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NATURE AI{D ST.ã,GE OF THE PROCEEDTNGS

On January 27, 2009, Wilmington Police arrested Cory J.

Hol-mes. DI 1 . On March 76, 2009, a New Castl-e County grand

jury indicted Hol-mes on the following charges: carjacking first

degree (11 Del-. C. S 836) ; five counts of possession of a

firearm during the commission of a felony (*PFDCF") (11 Del-. C.

S I447A); two counts of robbery first degree (11 DeL. C. S 832);

burglary first degree (11 DeL. C. S 826); attempted robbery

first degree (11 Del-. C. SS 531 a 832); possession of a deadly

weapon by a person prohibited (*PDWPP") (11 Del-. C. S 7448); and

resisting arrest (11 Del-. C. S L251 (b)). Dr 5.

Beginning on October 2J, 2009, Superior Court hel-d a four-

day jury trial-, after which the jury found Holmes guilty of al-l

charges (except the charge of resisting arrest, which the State

had dismissed at trial-). Df 2I. On November 20, 2009, Superior

Court sentenced Hol-mes to an aggregate of 42 yearS at level- V

incarceration, suspended after serving 31 years. DI 29. The

Del-aware Supreme Court, sitting en banc, affirmed Hofmes'

convictions and sentence on December g, 2OLO.L

In October 20II, Holmes moved f or postconviction rel- j-ef

under Criminal Rul-e 61 . DI 44 . Holmes' postconvj-ct j-on motion

was referred to a Superior Court Commissioner for consideration

'Hofmes v. State, 2OIO WL 5043910 (Del. Dec. 9, 2010)
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of the cl-aims .2 After receivj-ng def ense counsel' s af f idavit

responding to Holmes' cfaims of ineffective assistance of

counsel (DI 49) , the State's response (DI 52) , and Holmes'

responses to the State (DI 53) and his counsef (DI 55) ' the

Commissj-oner recommended that Superior Court deny relief. DI

56. Ho1mes fil-ed objections to the Commissioner's Report and

Recommendation. Df 58. After de novo review, Superior Court in

June 2012 adopted the Commissioner's Report and Recommendatj-on

and denied rel-ief. DI 60. This appeal ensued; and this is the

State's answering brief in opposition on appeal.

2 See 10 Del-. C. S 572 (b) (1)b; Super. Ct. Crim. R. 61(a) (5) .
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St MlqfARY OF THE ARGT MENT

I. Appellant's arguments are denied. Superior Court did

not abuse its discretion by denying Holmes' motion for

postconviction rel-ief. Holmes' claims of ineffective assistance

of counsel were properly denied by Superior Court because Holmes

faited to meet his heavy burden under Strickland v. Vlashinqton.

His counsel provided competent representation at every stage

(including plea bargaining), and counsel- made informed strategic

decisions regarding how to handle evidence and impeachment of

witnesses at triaf . Holmes' cl-aim of prosecutorial- misconduct is

procedural-ly def aul-ted under Criminal Rul-e 6l- (i ) (3 ) f or f ailure

to have presented the claim on direct appeal. Moreover,

becauser âs Superior Court found, the cl-aim has no merit, Ho1mes

cannot estabfish prejudice. FinalIy, Superior Court properly

f ound Hol-mes' cl-aim that the triaf j udge abused her discretion

by incorrectJ-y instructing the jury to be barred under Criminal-

RuIe 61(i) (4) as formerly adjudicated, this Court having denied

rel-ief on the same cf aim on direct appeal-. Superior Court thus

properly denied Hol-mes' meritless motion for postconviction

rel-ief .
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STATEMENT OE' FACTS3

While driving his mother's car in New Castl-e, Resean

Freeman sa\^/ a man that he recognized on the side of the road.

It was snowing, and Freeman offered the man, Holmes, a ride.

After Holmes indicated his preferred destination, Freeman

testified that Holmes "puIJ- [ed] a gun out and sa Iid] , 'Get the

fuck out the car you bitch ass.'" Freeman testified that Hol-mes

was wearing a "black skull câp, a black car ;acket, dark bfue

pants. " After Freeman exited the vehicl-e, Holmes drove a\^¡ay

with the car. Later that evening, Holmes cali-ed Freeman and

informed him of the l-ocation of the car. Approximately one week

later, after seeing Holmes' picture in a newspaper article,

Freeman identif ied his assai.l-ant as Hol-mes and notif ied the

police.

Later on that same evenlng that Freeman encountered HoJ-mes,

Madinah El-der and Harry Smith were at home and heard a knock on

the door. Before opening the door, Smith asked, "who is iL?",

and a voice replied, *WPD. " Smith testified that he then opened

the door, and that the visitor pointed a gun at his waist, and

exclaimed, " Iw] ho the fuck is staying here?" , and demanded

money. First, EÌder gave the man twenty doll-ars. Efder then

gave the man an additional one hundred dolÌars. El-der testified

3 These facts aïe taken
Hol-mes v. State, 2010 WL

verbatim from this Court's decision in
5043910, at xI-2 (De1. Dec. 9, 20L0).
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that immediately thereafter, the man "cl-icked the gun and said,

'Bitch, stop playing. ' " El-der then retr j-eved another one

hundred doll-ars and gave it to the man.

When the man's attention hlas temporarily distracted, Elder

ran out of the house. SubsequentJ-y, Smith f l-ed the house too.

Shortly thereafter, the police were notified of the incident.

Elder and Smith testified that the man was wearing a bfack skull

câp, a bfack Carhartt jacket, and dark pants.

Police arrived at the scene. After following footprints in

the snow that began at El-ders' home, Officer Ryan Dorsey

observed a man scaling the fence of a nearby home. After the

man ignored Dorsey's demand to stop and attempted to scafe

another fence and kick in a door, Dorsey tasered the man, who

turned out to be Hol-mes . Vühen police arrested Hol-mes, he \^/as

wearing a white T-shirt. The police recovered a black jacket

nearby, but never recovered a gun. HoImes I^/as charged by

indictment with carjacking first degree, five counts of PFDCF'

two counts of robbery first degree, burglary first degree,

attempted robbery first degree, PDWPP,'and resisting arrest.

As to the carjacking incident, Holmes testified that he dj-d

not have a gun and that he drove avray in Freeman's car because

he feared for his safety. Hol-mes al-so testified that, while he

was in Freeman's vehicle, Freeman asked him to pay a debt

rel-ated to a drug deal. Holmes then asked Freeman to take him

5



to a nearby apartment complex to col-l-ect money from tenants, but

when he attempted to exit the vehicl-e to col-l-ect the money,

Freeman told Hol-mes to instruct the tenants to bring the money

to the car. Hol-mes further testified:

So, f'm trying to negotiate, because really, I wasn't
talklng to nobody that'd never bring me nothing. So,
you know, I just kind of got out and was saying r Yot
I'm ready to go get it, and then he says that
something's funny by the way I'm acting. And then he
came out of his side, left the door open, and I ran
from around his car and I jumped in and puIled off.

As to the burglary and robbery, Hol-mes testified that he

visited Elder's home and was invited inside to buy PCP from

EIder. Holmes bel-ieved that El-der had provided approximately

half the agreed upon amount of PCP; neverthefess, E]der and

Smith demanded that Hol-mes pay for the ful-l- amount. Holmes

"begged IElder] to take Ithe PCP] back, Ibut] she woul-dn't take

it back. " Holmes further testified: "Wel-1, when they, they

caved in on fle, like, kind of l-ike one coming-not l-ike they \^/as

straight, but they was l-ike comi-ng slowly but sureJ-y cl-ose to

flê, so I inched out the door and ran out the door. "

6



THE TRIAI, COURT DTD NOT ABUSE ITS
DISCRETION BY DENYING HOLMES' MOTION
FOR POSTCOI{TVICTTON RELIEF.

Questíon Presented

Whether the trial- court abused its discretion in denying

Hol-mes' motion for postconviction relief?

Standard and Scope of Review

The Superior Court's denial- of postconviction relief is

reviewed for abuse of discretion. a Neverthel-ess, this Court

reviews the record to determine whether competent evidence

supports the Superior Court's findings of fact and whether its

conclusions of faw are not erroneous. t

Merits6

In his postconviction motion, Holmes asserted several

cl-aims f or rel-ief , categorized by the court as fol-l-ows : (1)

ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failing to

investigate, use and present phone record evidence, for

incorrect legaJ- advj-ce regarding the l-aw appJ-icable to weapons

offenses, for allowj-ng Holmes to testify without conducting a

thorough i-nvestigation, and f or of f ering a l-esser-included

def ense during closing arguments,' (2) prosecutorial- misconduct

a Panuski v . State, 4I A. 3d 476 , 41'9 (De] . 2012) ; Zebroski v
State, 822 A.2d 1038, 1043 (De]. 2003) .

5 Panuski, 47 A.3d at 4I9; Zebroski, 822 A.2d at 1043.

6 This argument addresses al-l- arguments in the opening brief .

I
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for presenting false testimony; and (3) abuse of discretion by

the trial- judge in providing a misJ-eading jury instruction.T The

Commissioner, considering the cl-aims on the merits, recommended

that the court deny rel-ief. Superior Court¡ oD de novo review

of the Commissioner' s Report and Recommendation, f ound al-l- of

Holmes' c]aims to be without merit8 and denied rel-ief . e On

appeal, HoJ-mes now asserts that Superior Court abused its

discretion by denying his c.l-aims. Holmes' cfaims for rel-ief are

unavail j-ng, Superior Court having acted wel-l- within its

dlscretion in denyi-ng his meritl-ess claims.

1. Trial counsel's representation was not deficient.lo

Under well--settl-ed Defaware 1aw, the trial court must first

determine whether Hol-mes met the procedural requirements of

Superior Court Criminal- Rule 6I before considering the merits of

7 State v. HoJmes, Del-. Super., ID No. 0901020659, Streett, J.,
order at 6-1 (June J, 2072) (hereinafter "Order") (Ex. A); State
v. HoJmes, Def . Super. , ID No. 0901020659, Vaval-a, Comm'r,
Report & Recornmendation at 3 (ApriI 20, 2012 ) (hereinafter
\\R&R// ) (Ex. B) .

I Superior Court al-so found Hol-mes' clalm regardlng the allegedly
misleading jury instruction to be barred under Superior Court
Criminal- Rule 61(i) (4) . Order at 16.

e order at 16.

10 on appea.ì-, Holmes has f ail-ed to brief his inef f ective
assistance claims regarding his decision to testify and
aIlegedly incorrect advice provided by counsel- during the plea
bargain stage of the litigation. Those cl-aims have thus been
waived on appeal. SomervifLe v. State, 703 A.2d 629, 631 (DeI.
1991); Murphy v. State, 632 A.2d 1150, L1'52 (De]. 1993).
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his postconvj-ction claims f or rel-ief . 11 The Superior Court

Commissioner found Holmes' motion to be timely under Criminal-

Rul-e 61 (i ) (1) , Hol-mes having f il-ed his motion within a year

after this Court's issuance of a mandate after direct appeal.12

Thus, Holmes'cl-aims of ineffective assistance of counsel, not

otherwise proceduraJ-J-y barred, were considered and re j ected by

the Commissioner on the merits. And the Superior Court judge,

after de novo review, came to the same concl-usion. Superior

Court hras manif estly correct in denying Holmes' cl-aims of

ineffective assistance of counse

In order to establish that he received constitutionally

ineffective assistance of counsel, Holmes was required to

demonstrate that: 1) defense counsef's representation fell

be.low an obj ective standard of reasonabl-eness; and 2) there

exists a reasonable probabiJ-ity that, but for his counsel's

unprofessional- errors, the outcome of the trial woul-d have been

dif f erent.13 Mere al-legations of inef f ectj-veness will not

suffice; instead, a defendant must make and substantiate

11 See Ayers v. State, BO2 A.2d 278, 28L (De1. 2002); Maxion v.
State, 686 A.2d 748, 150 (Del. 1996) ; BaiTey v. State, 58B A.2d
LI2L, II27 (Del-. I99L); Younger v- State, 580 A.2d 552, 554
(De]. 1990) (citing Harris v. Reed, 489 U.S. 255 (1989) ).
L2 R&R at 4

13 See Strickl-and v. Washington, 466 U. S

Zebroski, 822 A.2d at 1043 ; lilriqht v. State,
(Del. 1996).

668, 681 (1984);
61L A.2d 1353, 1356
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concrete allegations of actual- prejudice.la There is a strong

presumption

reasonable

that counsef's conduct fell within a wide range of

professional assistance. 15 Moreover, there is a

strong presumption that defense counsel's conduct constituted

sound trial- strategy.16 In evaluating an attorney's performance'

a reviewing court should al-so "el-iminate the distorting effects

of hinds iqint, " "reconstruct the circumstances of counsef' s

challenged conductr " and "eval-uate the conduct from counsel-'s

perspective at the time. "17 Holmes had the burden of showing

"that counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not

functioning as the 'counsel' quaranteed the defendant by the

Sixth Amendmen¡.rrr8

Furthermore, "Ia]n elror by counsel-, even if professionally

unreasonabl-e, does not warrant setting aside the judgment of

conviction if the error had no effect on the judgment."le *[A]

court need not determine whether counsel's performance was

14 See Zebroski, 822 A.2d, at 1043 i Gattis v. State, 691 A.2d
1,I14, 1118-19 (De] . 1,991) ; Younger, 580 A.2d at 556.

1s See Stri ckland., 466 U. S. at 689; Gattis, 697 A.2d at 1184 .

16 See Strickland, 466 U. S. at 689; Fl-amer v. State, 585 A.2d
136, 153-54 (De]. 1990).

L] See StrickTand, 466 U.S. at 689; Gattis, 691 A.2d at ILBA

18 Harrington v. Richter, 131 S. Ct.
StrickJand, 466 A.2d aL 687) (internal

'7'70, 181
quotations

(20l.7 ) (quoting
omitted) .

19 StrickJand, 466 U. S. at 69L

10



deficient before examining the prejudice suffered by the

defendant as a resuJ-t of the alleged def iciencies. "20 Because

the defendant must prove both parts of his ineffectiveness

claim, the court may dispose of a cl-aim by first determining if

the defendant has established prejudice.2l The first

consideration in the "pre j udice" analysJ-s al-one "requires more

than a showing of theoretical- possibility that the outcome was

affecLed.."22 The defendant must actually show a reasonable

probability of a different result but for trial- counsel's

alleged errors.'3 In turn, "actuaf ineffectiveness claims

alleging a deficiency in attorney performance are subject to a

generaJ- requirement that the defendant affirmatively prove

prejud.ice."24 *rt is not enough to 'show that the errors had

some conceivabf e ef f ect on the outcome of the proceedi ng. ' 't25

True prejudice requires a "substantiai-," not just "conceivabi-e,"

20 rd. at 69i .

27 rd.
)) Frey v. Fufcomer, 9f 4 F.2d 348, 358 (3d Cir. 1992) .

23 strickJand, 466 u. s
256-51 (3d Cir. 199L) .

at 694; Reese v. Ful-comer, 946 F.2d 241 ,

24 StrickTand, 466 U . S . at 693 . See id. at 696 (court 'tmust as k
if the defendant has met the burden of showing that the decision
reached woul-d reasonably J-ike1y have been dif f erent absent the
errors").
25 Richter, 131 S. Ct. at 787 (quoting StrickJand, 466 U.S. at
693) .
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likelihood of a different resul-t.26 Thus the defendant must

identify the particular defects in counsel's performance and

specifical-ly allege prejudice (and substantiate the

allegati on) .21

Tn consideríng the Strickl-and two-part paradigm, the United

States Supreme Court has noted the importance of avoiding the

temptation to second-guess trial counsel's performance:

"surmounting StrickLand's high bar is never an
easy task. " An ineffective-assistance cl-aim can
function as a way to escape rules of waiver and
forfeiture and raise issues not presented at tria1,
and so the Strickfand standard must be applied with
scrupulous care, lest "intrusive post-triaI inquiry"
threaten the integrity of the very adversary process
the right to counsef is meant to serve. Even under de
novo review, the standard for judging counsel-'s
representation is a most deferentiaf one. Unlike a

later reviewing court, the attorney observed the
rel-evant proceediflgs, knew of materials outside the
record, and interacted with the cl-ient, with opposi-ng
counsef, and with the judge. It is "all too tempting"
to "second-guess counsef's assistance after conviction
or adverse sentence. " The question is whether an
attorney's representation amounted to incompetence
under "prevailing professional norms, " not whether it
deviated from best practices or most common custom.28

fn light of the foregoing standards, Superi-or Court

properly found that Hol-mes had fail-ed to meet his burden under

26 Richter, 131 S. Ct. at 19I.

21 Dawson v. State, 673 A.2d 1186, 1-1-96 Del-. 1"996).

28 Richter, 131 S. Ct. at 7BB (citations omitted).
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Strickl-and to show that his

deficient performance of counsel-

counsel-'s actions amounted to

and resulted in pre; udice.2e

not to offer phoneÀ. Trial- counsel's strategic decision
records into evidence was reasonal¡le.

Holmes complains that his trial counsel fail-ed to utiÌize

phone records to impeach Freeman's testj-mony. As defense

counsel stated in his affidavit submitted in response to Holmes'

allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel, he received

all discovery material-s j-n this case, including phone records,

and reviewed them with his cl-ient. 880. Counsel used the phone

records during his cross-examination of Freeman. BB0. As

counsel- explained, "Freeman did admit to having telephone

contact with the defendant prior to the date of the robbery. He

also admitted to having telephone cal-l-s with the defendant after

the robbery. Furthermore, the defendant took the witness stand

and fulJ-y explai-ned his

ft is clear from

position to the jury." BB0.

the transcript of Freeman's testimony and

defense counsef's cross-examination, that although defense

counsel- did not seek to admit the phone records as a trial

exhibit, he did review the records and use rel-evant portions to

impeach Freeman's testimony. 825-29. As explained in counsel's

affidavit, this decision to utilize the records during cross-

examination, yet not admit them as exhibits during trial

2e order at 14

13

was a



strategic decision counsef bel-ieved woul-d benef it his cl-ient.

B80-81. Defense counsel wisely acknowl-edged that Hol-mes'

characterization of his crj-mes as "drug deal-s gone bad" did not

mitigate Hol-mes' culpability and, in fact, could have served to

bolster the State's case with respect to Holmes' motive and the

victims' identification of Hol-mes. BB0. Moreover, such

characterization could have supported the State's theory that

Holmes had a f irearm íf , as Holmes cl-aims, he hlas entering

into drug transactions with aJ-leged1y known drug deal-ers, the

probability of Hol-mes arming himsel-f with a weapon would be

higher. Moreover, the jury could believe that a drug deal-er

woul-d be unl-ikeJ-y to hand over his property to an unarmed

robber.

Even more important, as defense counsef recognized, the

phone records contained evidence that corroborated the State's

witnesses' testimony and coufd have been more damaging than

helpful to Hol-mes . 881 . Holmes f ail-ed to establish that the

phone records would have impeached Freeman more effectively than

the cross-examination conducted by trial counsel-. In fact, it

is unclear that the phone records woul-d have been admissibl-e in

any case. As a resul-t, Superior Court properly found that

Holmes had failed to estabfish either deficient performance or

prejudice from his counsef's strategic decision not to have the

phone records admitted into evidence.

I4



B. Defense counsel's closing argument was ProPer.

Holmes also complains that counsel- was ineffective in

making arguing that Holmes' could have possessed a toy gun

rather than a firearm the prosecutj-on not having been abl-e to

produce the al-leged vùeapon. Defense counsel never conceded that

Hol-mes committed the crimes with which he was charged or any

lesser-incl-uded offenses; nor dld counsel abandon the defense

that the crimes were actually drug deals gone bad. See 868-75.

To the contrary, counsel argued that the State had fail-ed to

produce the gun and concl-uded his closing argument by reminding

the jurors that they must acquit Holmes if they had any

reasonable doubt, and not to convict him of lesser charges

because he admitted his oh/n guilt. 875. Given the evidence

presented at trial, including Hol-mes' ovvn testimony in which he

admitted committing crimes, defense counsel'S closing argument

\,vas appropriate and reasonabf e. Moreover, HoJ-mes again failed

to show any prejudice, especialJ-y in light of his orúIn admissions

of stealing the car from the first victim and money from the

second victim.30 He did not, and cannot, show that if defense

counse.l- had never mentioned the weapon, the trial outcome wou-ld

have been any different. Superior Court properly found that

Hol-mes fail-ed to meet either prong of the Strickl-and paradigm.

30 See order at 13.
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2. HoJ.mes' claim of prosecutorial misconduct is procedurally
defau]-ted under Crimínal Rule 61 (i) (3) .

fn his postconviction motion, Holmes alleged for the first

time that the prosecutor engaged in misconduct by eJ-iciting and

encouraging fal-se testimony by Freeman. This claim could have

been raised on direct appeal and is, therefore, barred by

Criminal Rule 61 (i) (3) unfess Hofmes is able to show cause for

rel-ief f rom the procedural bar and pre j udice as a resul-t of a

violation of his rights, or a col-orable claim that there was a

miscarriage of justi-ce because of a constitutional violation

that undermined the fundamental- Iegality, reÌiability, integrity

or fairness of the proceedings that l-ed to the judgment of

convlcti-on. Holmes failed to meet his burden for relief from

the bar of Criminal Rule 61 (i) (3) . As there was no misconduct,

Hol-mes can not overcome the procedural hurdl-e.31

In order to prove misconduct, Hol-mes was required to show

that the State knowi-ng1y suborned perjury. He did not meet this

burden. Holmes' cfaim hlnges on his assertion that Freeman's

testimony was inconsistent with the phone records. But there is

nothing in the record to support the aJ-legation that Freeman

committed perjury when he testified. First, the prosecutor did

31 Superior Court rejected the claim on the merits, after noting
that cl-aims that coul-d have been presented on direct appeal but
were not, should be barred. R&R at 4. See Unitrin, Inc. v.
Anerican General Corp. , 65I A.2d 1361 (Del. 1995) .
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not elicit any testimony from Freeman about phone cafls between

Freeman and Hofmes during direct examination. 810-19. That

topic \^/as f irst broached on cross-examination by def ense

counsel . 825. During the course of Freeman's testimony on both

cross-examination and re-direct, it became cl-ear that confusion

existed regarding which phone v/as being referenced. Freeman had

two cel-l phones on the date of the car)acking one \^Ias his oh/n

and one belonged to Torian, B25t 21. Freeman attempted to

expJ-ain his telephone contact with Holmes, test j-f ying that he

spoke to Hol-mes when he had Torian's phone because Holmes was

trying to reach Torian and Freeman was confused. 825-28.

AdditionalJ-y, the exact time frame that Freeman had Torian's

phone was never establ-ished, as Freeman coul-d not remember

exactly how long he had the phone. In short, Freeman admitted

to call-s between himsel-f and Holmes, but a.l-so admitted confusion

as to the exact number and timing of the call-s. Not

surprisingf y, there r^/ere some inconsistencies between Freeman's

testimony and the phone records. There is nothing to suggest,

however, that the inconsistencies were intentional or solicited

by the prosecutor.32 Hol-mes' misconduct cfaim is an unsupported

32 See, e.q., Weston v. State, 2OOI I/üL 265964, *3 (Del-. Mar. '7,

200I) (*inconsistencies in testimony alone are insufficient to
establish the State's knowlng use of perjüry, 'especialJ-y where,
as here, the jury has been exposed to afl- inconsistencies.'")
(quoting Gutridqe v. State, I9B7 WL 38798 (Del. June 30, 1987)).
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attempt to mischaracteríze common and expected inconsistencies

in witness testimony as perjury, which is simply not the case.

Moreover, HoÌmes f ail-ed to show any pre j udice. At trial-,

Holmes admitted stealing Freeman's car and to carjacking

Freeman. 836, 49 53. The only real issue that remaj-ned for the

j ury was whether or not Hol-mes possessed a gun at the time

Three separate witnesses, Freeman, Elder and Smith, testified

that Hofmes displayed a gun to them. Three separate witnesses

described the gun they saw in Hofmes' hands while they hlere

being robbed. fn short, Holmes cannot show that minor

inconsistencies between Freeman's memory of phone cal-l-s on two

separate cel-f phones and the cel-l- phone records woul-d have

affected the outcome at triaf. Accordingly, Hol-mes' allegation

of prosecutorial conduct was properly rejected by Superj-or

Court.

3. Holmes' claim of an improper jury instruction by the trial.
judge is procedurally barred under Criminal Rule 61 (i) (4) as
formerly adjudicated.

Superior Court Criminal- Rul-e 61 (i) (4) , in rel-evant part,

bars reconsideration of any ground for relief that \^Ias formerly

adjudicated in the proceedings J-eading to the judgment of

conviction unfess reconsideration of the claim is warranted in

the interest of justice. Because Holmes' third claim for relief

mirrors his second argument in his direct appeal, and that claim

1B



was rejected by this Court, the cl-aim is now barred by Criminal-

Rule 61 (i) (4) .

In his direct appeal-, Holmes raised two arguments, which

h/ere summarized by the Court as fol-1ows: "First, Holmes

contends that his convictions must be reversed because the

Superior Court admitted a newspaper articl-e into evidence.

Second, Hol-mes contends that the Superior Court erred j-n

interrupting his counsel's closing argument and in giving an

instruction that mischaracterized Holmes' argument."33 Holmes

concedes that he is raising the same claim in postconviction

that he raised on direct appeal.3a Because Holmes has offered no

new evidence or provided any reason \^/hy this f ormerly

adj udicated claim shoul-d no\^r be revisited "in the j-nterest of

justicer " Superior Court reasonably found the claim barred under

Criminal- Rule 61 (i ) (4 ) . 3s

33 Hol-mes, 2010 WL 5043910, at *1.

34 See op. Brf. at L6
abuse of discretion on

("This Court
direct appeal

denied appellant's
(20]-0 WL 5043910 at

cl-aim of
4).").

35 See CoTTingwood v. State, 2OOO WL Lt17630, at *1 (DeI. Aug.
11, 2000) ; Skinner v. State, 607 A.2d 1,I10, I1,'l2 (De] . L992)
(Riley v. State, 585 A. 2d '71,9 , 72L (De]. 1990 ) ) .
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CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the judgment of the Superior

Court shoul-d be affirmed.

/s/ n].,i-zal¡eth R. McFarlan
Deputy Attorney General
Department of Justice
State Office Building
820 N. French Street
Wilmington, DE 19801
(302) s77-8s00
rD #3159

DATE: September 4, 2072
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IN TIIE SUPERTOR COURT OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE
IN AND FOR NEW CASTLE COLINTY

STATE OF DELAWARE,

Case No. 0901020659

CORY J. HOLMES,

Defendant.

ORDER

This 7th day of Ju nerZllz,the court having considered Defendant's

Motion for Appointment of Counsel to represent him in his Motion for

Postconviction Relief and Defendant' s 93 -page Memorandum

accompanying his Motion for Postconviction Relief, and a careful, thorough,

andde novo review of the record, said Motion is DEMED.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

Judge Diane Clarke Streett

Original to Prothonotary '

xc: Dep. Atty. Gen. Cynthia L. Faraone
Michael C. Heyden, Esquire
Cory J. Holmes , Pro Se

V
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IN TI{E SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE
IN AND FOR NEW CASTLE COLTNTY

STATE OF DELAWARE,

Case No. 0901020659

CORY J. HOLMES,

Defendant.

ORDER

This lh day of Juner20l2,upon consideration of Defendant's Motion

for Postconviction Relief; counsel's Affidavit, Defendant's Reply to

Counsel's Affidavit, the State's Response to Defendant's Motion,

Defendant's Reply to the state's Response, the commissioner's Report and

Recommendation that Defendant's Motion for Postconviction Relief should

be DENIED, Defendant's Reply to the Commissioner's Report and

Recommendation, and a careful and thorou gh de noyo review of the record

in this case, it appears that:

1. On January 27,2009, Defendant was arrested while scaling a

fence in the snow after a report of a robbery at anearby residence. On

March 16,2009, based on that arrest and a separate report of a carjacking,

Defendant was indicted on the charges of carjacking First Degree,

V



Possession of a Firearm During the Commission of a Felony ("PFDCF"XS

counts), Robbery First Degree (2 counts), Burglary First Degree, Attempted

Robbery First Degree, Possession of a Deadly Weapon By a Person

Prohibited ('?DTWBPP") and Resisting Arrest.

2. On November 2,2009, a jury found the Defendant guilty of all

charges (except the resisting anest which had been dismissed by the State

prior to trial).

3. On November 9, z}lg,Defendant was sentenced to a total of 42

years atLevel5, suspended after serving 37 years. Probations in Criminal

Action Nos. VN08-04-1072-01and VN-09-01-1605 were discharged as

unimproved.

4. On December 2,2009,Defendant filed a notice of appeal to the

Delaware Supreme Court. Defendant's appeal raised two issues: that his

conviction should be reversed because a newspaper article was admitted into

evidence at hial; and that the court aliegedly erred when it intem:pted

counsel's closing arguments concerning a choice-oÊevils defense and

all e gedly mi sch arac tefized the de fense argument.

5. On December 9, 2010, the Delaware Supreme Court affirmed

Defendant's conviction. I The Delaware Supreme Court held that "[b]ecause

' Holmesv. state,2Ol0 wL 50a3910 (Del.).

2



the other, admissible evidence against Holmes was sufficient to sustain his

convictions, we conclude that the error in admitting the newspaper article

without a limiting instruction was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt".2

Additionally, the Supreme Court said that the "superior Court did not err in

concludingfhatHolmes was not entitled to a choice-of-evils instruction."3

6. This case involves two separate incidents that occurred on the

same day, January 27,2009. Complainant, Mr. Resean Freeman, testified

that the first incident occurred when Defendant displayed a gun and drove

off in Freeman's car without permission after ltzfr. Freeman had offered

Defendant a ride because it was snowing. Ms. Medina Elder, the second

complainant, testif,red that the second incident occurred when Defendant

came to her house and demanded money at gunpoint. After she and a guest

complied, she escaped, flagged down a vehicle, and immediately reported

the events to the police who were nearby. The police responded to her

house, followed footprints in the snow, and apprehended Defendant as he

attempted to kick in a door. Defendant was anested forthwith for the home

invasion. He was arrested for the carjacking approximately one week later.

7. Defendant testified that both incidents involved drug activity in

which Defendant and complainants were engaged. Defendant denied using a

2 Id.at*5
3 tb¡d.

J



gun but admitted taking Freeman's car. Defbndant denied that a home

invasion occurred and explained that the second incident was a drug deal

gone bad so he rcrLaway.

8. The facts of the case were summarized by the Delaware

Supreme Court and arc supplied herea:

While driving his mother's car in New Castle, Resean
Freeman saw a man that he recognized on the side of the road.
It was snowing, and Freeman offered the man, Holmes, a ride.
After Holmes indicated his prefened destination, Freeman
testified that Holmes "pull[ed] a gun out and sa[id], 'Get the
fuck out the car you bitch ass."' Freeman testified that Holrnes
was wearing a "black skull cap, a black car jacket, dark blue
pants." After Freeman exited the vehicle, Holmes drove away
with the car. Later that evening, Holmes called Freeman and
informed him of the location ofthe car. Approximately one
week later, after seeing Holmes'picture in a newspaper article,
Freeman identified his assailant as Holmes and notified the
police.

Later on that same evening that Freeman encountered
Holmes, Madinah Elder and Harry Smith were at horne and
heard a knock on the door. Before opening the door, Smith
asked, "who is it?", and a voice replied, "'WPD." Smith
testified that he then opened the door, and that the visitor
pointed a gun at his waist, and exclaimed, "[w]ho the fuck is
staying here?", and demanded money. First, Elder gave the
man twenty dollars. Elder then gave the man an additional one
hundred dollars. Elder testified that irnmediately thereafter, the
man "clicked the gun and said, 'Bitch, stop playing.,,, Elder
then retrieved another one hundred dollars and gave it to the
man.

4

o Holmes v. Stale at * l-2.



When the man's attention was temporarily distracted,
Elder ran out of the house. Subsequently, Smith fled the house
too. Shortly thereafter, the police were notified of the incident.
Elder and Smith testified that the man was wearing a black
skull cap, a black Carhartt jacket, and dark pants.

Police arrived at the scene. After following footprints in
the snow that began at Elders' home, Officer Ryan Dorsey
observed a man scaling the fence of a nearby home. After the
man ignored Dorsey's demand to stop and attempted to scale
another fence and kick in a door, Dorsey tasered the man, who
furned out to be Holmes. 'When police arrested Holmes, he was
wearing a white T-shirt. The police recovered a black jacket
nearby, but never recovered a gun. Holmes was charged by
indictment with carjacking first degree, five counts of PFDCF,
two counts of robbery first degree, attempted robbery first
degree, PDWBPP, and resisting arrest.

As to the carjacking incident, Holmes testified that he did
not have a gun and that he drove away in Freeman's car
because he feared for his safety. Holmes also testified that,
while he was in Freeman's vehicle, Freeman asked him to pay a
debt related to a drug deal. Holmes then asked Freeman to take
him to a nearby apaftment complex to collect money from
tenants, but when he attempted to exit the vehicle to collect the
money, Freeman told Holmes to instruct the tenants to bring the
money to the car. Holmes further testifred:

So I'm trying to negotiate, because really, I wasn't talking to
nobody that'd never bring me nothing. So, you know, I just
kind of got out and was saying,yo, I'm ready to go get it, and
then he says that something's firnny by the way I'm acting.
And then he came out of his side, left the door open, and I ran
from around his car and I jumped in and pulled off.

As to the burglary and robbery, Holmes testified that he
visited Elder's home and was invited inside to buy PCP from
Eider. Holmes believed that Elder had provided approximateiy
half the agreed upon amount of PCP; nevertheless, Elder and
Smith demanded that Holmes pay for the full amount. Holmes

5



"begged [Elder] to take [the PCP] back, [bur] she wouldn't take
it back." Holmes further testified" "Well, when they, they
caved in on me, like, kind of like one coming - not like they
was straight, but they was like coming slowly but surely close
to me, so I inched out the door and ran out the door."

9. On January 5,2011, the Delaware Supreme Court issued a

Mandate affirming the Superior Court conviction.

10. The Defendant next filed a motion for Post Conviction Relief

accornpanied by a93 page memorandum, on October 4,2071, alleging

ineffective assistance of counsel, prosecutorial misconduct, and judicial

abuse of discretion.

11. Specifically, Defendant faults his attorney for:

misadvice about the law regarding'weapons

o

a

a

a

o

failure to investigate phone records

failure to use phone records to impeach cornplainant Freeman

allowing defendant to testiff without conducting a thorough
investigation

offering a lesser included defense during closing arguments

12. Defendant also contends that the prosecution should have acted

as an advocate for the defense but instead drew inferences from false

evidence. Defendant further claims that the court provided a "misleading"

jury instruction, improperly prevented the defense from arguing a choice-oÊ

6



evils defense, and did not present a"Iegal explanation of what choice evils

means.n5

13. The Couft referred thís Motion for Postconviction Relief to

Superior Court Commissioner Mark vavala pursuant to l0 Del.C. $ 512(b)

and Superior Court Criminal Rule 62 for a proposed report and

recommendation. The Commissioner solicited a response frorn defense

counsel and the State.

14. Defense counsel submitted an afftdavit on November 27,201I.

Counsel stated that:

o counsel filed the appropriate pleadings

. o received the required discovery

o reviewed all discovery with Defendant

Defendant, not counsel, insisted that the State could not
convict Defendant of a weapons charge if they could not
find a gun

I

counsel did not misadvise Defendant about a weapon

Counsel "repeatedly" told Defendant that Defendant's belief
that a conviction could not be obtained without finding a
gun was incorrect

Counsel was concemed that the telephone records might
establish a drug dealing relationship between Defbndant and
the complainant which would support the State's case that
the identification was accurate, provide a motive, and
corroborate the robbery complaint,

5 Defendant's Memorandum, October 4,2Oll, at p. 78,

o

a

o

I



o

o

o

a

Counsel cross examined complainant about the telephone
records

Defendant decided to go to trial because Defendant knew
that the complainants were drug dealers and Defendant
believed that they would not appear for trial

Defendant made his own decision regarding whether to
accept or reject the State's plea offer

Counsel advised Defendant of the advantages and
dis advantages of testifying

Defendant made his own decision regarding whether to
testiS

Counsel discussed with Defendant how he should present
himself on the witness stand

a

15. Defendant responded to counsel's affidavit by positing that

counsel's assessment of the telephone records cont¡adicts counsel's attempts

during trial to introduce the records into evidence and counsel's argument on

appeal.

16. The State also submitted a response to this Rule 61 Motion.

Regarding the telephone records, the State wrote "It is clear from the

transcript of [complainant's] testimony and defense counsel's cross-

examination, that although defense counsel did not admit the phone records

as a trial exhibit, he did review the records and use relevant portions to

impeach [complainant's] testimony.6

u State's Response to Defendant's Motion for Postconviction Relief, February 14,2012 at p. l0
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17. As to prosecutorial misconduct, the State responded that it had

turned over all phone records to the defense, the St¿te did not ask

cornplainant Freeman about phone records on direct examination, and there

is no evidence that Freeman committed pedury. The State also argued that

Defendant's complaint concerning the Court's instruction to the jury is

barred by Rule 61(iX4) because it was formerly adjudicated.

18. The law is clear that Defendant's motion, having been frled

within one year of the Delaware Supreme Court's Mandate, is timely and is

not procedurally barred by Rule 61(Ð(1).? Furthermore, for the reasons

stated in the Commissioner's Report and Recommendation, including the

7 Superior Court Criminal Rule 6l(i) provides, in pertinent pan:
(i) Bars to Relief,
(t) Time limitation. A motion for postconviction relief may not be filed more than one year after the

judgment of conviction is final or, if it asserts a rotroactively applicable r¡ght that is newly recognized after
the judgment of conviction is final, more than one year after the right ís first recognized by the Supreme
Court of Delaware or by the United States Supreme Court.

(2) Repetitive Motion. Any ground for relief that was not asserted in a prior postconviction proceeding, as

required by subdivision (bX2) of this rule, is thereafter baned, unless consideration of the claim is
warranted in the interest ofjustice.

(3) Procedural Default. Any ground for relief that was not asserted in the proceedings leading to the
judgment of conviction, as required by the rules of this court, is thereafter barred, unless the movant shows

(A) Cause for relieffrom the procedwal default and
(B) Prejudice from violation of the movant's rights.

(4) Former Adjudication. Any ground for relief that was formerly adjudicated, whether in the proceedings
leading to thejudgment ofconviction, in an appeal, in a postconviction proceeding, or in a federal habeas
colpr.F proceeding, is thereafter barred, unless reconsideration ofthe claim ís warranted in the interest of
justice.

(5) Bars inapplicable. The bars to reliefin paragraphs (l), (2), and (3) ofthis subdivision shall not applyto
a claim that the court lackedjurisdiction or to a colorable claim that there was a rniscarriage ofjustice
because of a constitutional violation that undermined the fundamental legality, reliability, integrity or
fairness of the proceedings leading to the judgrnen( ol'conviction.

9



fact that this is Defendant's first Rule 61 Motion and it raises issues of

ineffective assistance of counsel, the Court wili consider Defendant's

Motion on the merits.

19. Although Defendant admitted at trial and in his subrnissions

that he committed the carjacking and robbery - but without the gun,8

Defendant has frled this Ruie 61 Motion blaming his attorney, the

prosecution, and the trial court, primarily because he believes that telephone

records would have shown that complainant Freeman was a liar.

20. A claim of ineffectiveness of counsel is "normally not subject

to the procedural default rule"e and, because it alleges that counsel's

substandard work prejudiced Petitioner's case, prevented Petitioner from

having afair trial, and weakened Petitioner's appeal, it is not baned.

21. Nevertheless, an analysis of the law conceming attorney

performance leads to the conclusion that, in the instant case, Defendant's

attorney did not fall below normal standards despite Defendant's

dissatisfaction with his attomey's use of information obtained from certain

telephone records.

22. In order for Defendant to establish ineffective assistance of

counsel, Defendant must show that counsel's alleged errors "were so

t Holmes v. State, at l-2.
e State v, Gattis,1995 WL 79096l, *3 (Del. Super),

l0



grievous that his performance fell below an objective standard of

reasonableness ... and there is a reasonable degree of probability that, but

for counsel's unprofessional errors, the outcome of the proceedings would

have been different

' 23. There is a strong presumption that an attomey's representation

is competent and falls within the "wide range" of reasonable professional

assistance.ll Moreover, deference must be given to counsel's judgment in

order to prornote stability in the process.t'

24. Furthermore, to overcome the strong presumption that counsel

has acted competently, the defendant must demonstrate that counsel did not

act "reasonably considering ali the circumstances"l3 and that the

unreasonable performance prejudiced the defense. The essential question is

whether counsel made mistakes so crucial that counsel was not functioning

. at the level guaranteed by the Sixth Amendmentra and deprived Defendant

of a fair trial.

25. Here, Defendant has failed to overcome the presumption that,

underthe totality of circumstances, counsel's action "might be considered

toîaftis at *4. See also, ÍIarrington v. Richter,l3 I S.Ct. 770,778 Q}ll). See also, Premo v. Moore, 131
S.Ct.733,736Q011);Scottv.State,7A,3d47l,475(Del.20l0). Stricklandv.llashington,466U.S,66S
(1974). See, Duross v. Sta¡e,494 A.zd 1265 (Del. 1985); Zebrowskì v. State,822 A.2d 103I @el. 2003).

" Id.
t2 Prento, 131 S.Ct. at 736.

" Cuhen v. Pinholster, l3l S,Ct. 1388, )392 (201l) citing Strickland v. Washington at 688.
ta Harrington, l3l S.Ct. at 778.
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sound trial strategy."tt The question is not whether counsel deviated from

the best of rnost common practices, but whether counsel's representation

was inadequate under the prevailing professional oorms.'6 Indeed, as stated

in the Commissioner's Report and Recommendation, "fi]solated poor

strategy, inexperience, or bad tactics do[es] not necessarily amount to

ineffective assistance of counsel."lT Here, Defendant essentially asserts that

the witnesses þarticularly Mr. Freeman) were not credible, and criticizes his

attomey for not pursuing that line of defense. The record, however, shows

that defense counsel attacked,witness credibility throughout the entire trial.rs

26. In evaluating Defendant's representation from counsel's

perspective,tn counsel was an active and. engaged advocate. Counsel

communicated with his client, reviewed the State's evidence with

Defendant, abided by Defendant's choice to go to trial, appropriately and

vigorously cross-examined the State's witnesses, abided by Defendant's

choice to testifu at trial, and appropriately addressed the jury. Moreover,

although Defendant speculates that counsel should have utilized the

telephone records more aggressively, the State and counsel reason that a

restrained focus on the records may have actually prevented prejudice to the

l: U.S. at 6Sg,citingMichelv. Louisiana,3i} U,S.9l, l0l (1955).16 I s.cr. at 778.t7 
s Report and Recommendation at p. 9, citing Bellmore v. SÍate,602 NE 2nd l7l,l23 (lnd.

t992).
rE Tr¡al Transcript, October 27 ,2009 at p. I 8.
te Strickland at 689.
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Defendant because a more aggressive use of the records could have unduly

emphasized Defendant's involvement in the drug world. Objectively,

counsel acted reasonably under all of the circumstances.

27 . Moreover, in order to show prejudice, the defendant must prove

that, but for counsel's errors, the result would have been different.2o Th"

court does not need to be certain that counsel's performance had no effect on

the outcome" but,there must be a substantial probability Thatthere would

have been a dífferent result.22

28. Hence, although Defendant has speculated about the usefulness

of phone records and alleged actual prejudice, he is required to substantiate

his claim.t3 D"fendant has failed to do this.

29. Defendant has also failed to show how portions of counsel's

closing argument prejudiced his case. Defendant alleges that he was

convicted because counsel conceded Defendant's guilt when counsel argued

to the jury that the State did notproduce the gun. Defendant, however, had

already admitted his theft of the car from the first complainant and money

from the subsequent complainant.za

20 Cullen, l3 I S.Cr. at 1392.

't Id. At7lg.
" Id.

't Scou,7 A.3dat4'75,
2aDefendanttestifiedthat"... Istolethecar,.," Trial Transcript,October29,2}Ogatp,3l;and"lleft
with...stuffandldidn'tpayher.-.". TrialTranscript,Octobcr29,2009atp.69.
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30. Since Defendant has not and cannot satisf, either prong of an

ineffective assistance of counsel claim, Defendant has not established a

miscaniage ofjustice based on a constitutional violation that undermined the

fundamental legality, reliability, integrity, or faimess of his trial pursuant to

Rule 61 (Ð(s).

31. Defendant next attacks the prosecution. This thrust hinges on

compl ain ant Fre eman' s arguably incons istent and/or contradi ctory

recollection regarding telephone calls. Defendant characterizes Freeman's

testimony as "extensive lies".2t Def.nd*t alleges that the prosecution,

"allowed false testimony to go uncorrected, ... elicited false evidence, ...

[and] aided, and encouraged extensive false testimony .., which he knew to

be false beyond a reasonable doubt,"26 Continuing his reliance on telephone

records, Defendant also argues that the State intentionally failed to properly

use the telephone records because the State "allowed" Freeman to lie.27

32. Extrapolating on his theory of iies, Defendant next advances the

argument that the prosecutor and defense counsel were involved in a

conspiracy. This was evidenced, he claims, when the prosecution allowed

defense counsel to abandon [counsel's] efforts to use the phone records

because the phone was not registered to Mr. Freeman. Defendant concludes

25 Defendant's Memorandum at p. 5,
26 Defendant's Memorandum at p. 5.
21 lbid.
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. "that the prosecutor and defense counsel were both against him.28 He also

chastises the prosecution for failing to "act as an advocate for the

Defendant".2e

33. Defendant speculates that the discrepancies between the

complainants' testimony and the telephone records prove that compiainant's

testimony was false. However, the State explained that witness recollection

is often faulty. In fact, Freeman offered several explanations about the

phone calls including conftsion, that the phone calls were not intended for

him, that he underestimated the number of calls, and even regarded some as

coincidental.3o

34. Thus, although the jury was aware that complainantFreeman's

recollection of telephone calls was inaccurate, Defendant has not shown that

Freernan is unworthy of belief conceming the core issue of this case - the

robbery. By Defendant's own admission, Mr. Freáman was the victim of a

robbery. Indeed, Defendant's own testimony -that Defendant "ran from

around fcomplainant's] car and [he] jumped in and pulled off'-

corroborated, bolstered, and helped to establish Freeman's credibility.

28 Id.at53.
2e Defendant's Motion for Postconviction Relief at p, 3.
30 Defendant's Reply to State's Response/Commiss-ioner's Report and Recommendation, May 2,2012, alp.
8.9.
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õ 35. Finally, the issue of the court and the choice-oÊevils defense,

which Defendant agaínraises, was already decided and rejected by the

Delaware Supreme Court. Defendant's explanation, that he found hirnself

wrongfully embroiled in the two incidents because he was paying a drug-

deal debt and because he was obtaining drugs, formed the basis for the

Delaware Supreme Court to hold that "[t]he Superior Court did not er¡ in

concludingfbaT [Defendant] was not entitled to a choice-of-evils

instruction".3l

36. Defendant's contention that the court erred is barred under Rule

61(iX4) for the reasons stated in the Comrnissioner's Report and

Recommendation. It was formerly adjudicated. Defendant's attempt, in the

instant motion, to seek a second review of the same issue by parsing the trial

judge's words in the instruction that the choice-of-evils defense is

inapplicable to the evidence, does not remove that bar.

37. Thus, after careful, thorough, and de novo review of the record

in this case, the Court adopts the Commissioner's Report and

Recommendation that Defendant's Motion for Postconviction Relief is

DENIED.

3t Holmes v. State aL*5,

l6
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38. Accordingly, Defendant's Motion for Postconviction Relief is

DENTED.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

Original to Prothon otary
xc: Dep. Atry. Gen. Cynthia L. Faraone

Michael C. Heyden, Esquire
Cory J. Holmes, Pro Se

e
Judge Diane Clarke Streett
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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE

IN AND FOR NEW CASTLE COUNTY

STATE OF DELAWARE

I.D. # 0901020659

COREY HOLMES

Defendant

Date Submitted: April 5,2012
Date Decided: April 20, 20 12
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REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION

Defendant's Pro Se Motionfor Postconviction Relief should be
DENIED.å.r..J *..'

l.- :

Ir"-. jt.i

(':
cr-

¡. r.-

!Ðn this 20'h day of April,2072, it appears to the Court that:
^-lã
1. On a cold snowy winter day in January,2009, Defendant accepted a ride

from an acquaintance, Resean Freeman, then pulled a gun on Freeman and said, 'oGet

the fuck out the Çar, you bitch ass."r Freeman followed Defendant's orders and

watched as Defendant took his car.2 Defendant called Freeman later that evening and

I Holmes v. State,2010 wL 5043910 (Del,) at *1.

2 Id.

I
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informed Freeman of the car's whereabouts.3 Approximately one week later,

Freeman saw Defendant's picture in a newsp aper, identified Defendant as the person

who took his car using a weapon, and notified the police.a On January 27,2009,the

same night that police received the call from Freeman, police arrested Defendant after

Defendant held two other victims at gunpoint in their home, robbed them of their

money, fled potice, and ultimately found himself tasered by the arresting officer.s

2. OnNovember 2,2009,after afour-daytrial, Defendantwas found guilty

on one count of Carjacking First Degree, five counts of Possession of a Firearm

During Commission of a Felony ("PFDCF"), two counts ofRobbery First Degree, one

count of Burglary First Degree, one count of Attempted Robbery First Degree, and

Possession of a Deadly Weapon by a Person Prohibited. The State entered a Nolle

Prosequi as to one count ofResisting Arrest.

3. On November 20,2009, Defendant was sentenced to 42 years of

incarceration, suspended after servi ng 37 years.

4. On December 9,2010, Defendant's convictions were affirmed by the

Delaware Supreme Court,

t Id.

o Id.

5 Id.

2
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5. On October 4,2011, Defendant filed a Motion for Postconviction Relief

("Rule 61 Motion"), in which he claims numerous grounds for dismissing his case

and categorizes these grounds in four main categories: a) Ineffective assistance of

trial counsel such that Counsel failedto "investigate, utilize, and present exculpatory

discovery material;" b) prosecutorial misconduct; and c) abuse of discretion by the

trial judge; and d) ineffective assistance of counsel in the guilty plea stage.6

6. Before addressing the substantive merits of any claim for postconviction

reliet the Court must determine whether the defendant has satisfied the procedural

requirements of Superior Court Criminal Rule 6 1 ("Rule 6 i ").? Rule 61(i) establishes

fourprocedural bars to motions for postconviction relief: (1) the motion must be filed

within one year of a finai judgment of conviction;8 (2) any grounds forrelief which

6 Def. Memorandum of Law in Support of Rule 61 Motion ("Supp.Memo,"), 2-3. (Note:

Defendant's Supp. Memo. does not number the first four pages and misnumbered the remaining

pages, omitting apage i0. The Court manually re-numbered Defendant's submission which now

includes 96 pages of Defendant's argument, prior to his later submissions duríng the course of
this motion.)

7 younger v. State,580 A.2d 552,554 (Del. 1990). See also Bailey v. State,588 A.2d
1121, ll27 (DeL1991); State v. Mayfeld,2003 ÏVL 21267422, at *2 (Del. Super. Ct. June 2,

2003).

8 The motíon must be filed within one year if the final order of conviction occurred after

July 1, 2005. See Ruie 61, annot. Effect of amendrnents. For the purposes of Rule 61, a
judgment of conviction becomes final under the following circumstances: "(1) If the defendant

does not file a direct appeal, 30 days after the Superior Court imposes sentence; (2) If the

defendant files a direct appeal or there is an automatic statutory review of a death penalty, when

the Supreme Court issues a mandate or order finally determining the case on direct review; or (3)

If the defendant files a petition for certiolari seeking review of the Supreme Court's mandate or

order when the United States Supreme Court issues a mandate or order finally disposing of the

3
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were not asserted previously in any prior postconviction proceeding are barred; (3)

any basis for reliefmusthave been asserted at trial or on direct appeal as required by

the court rules; and (4) any basis for relief must not have been formerly adjudicated

in any proceeding,

7. Because Defendant's motion has been filed within one year of the

Supreme Court mandate affirming his convictions, his motion is timely and,therefore,

not able to be dismissed under Rule 6i(iXI). Because this is Defendant's first Rule

61 motion, Rule 6I(i)(2) does not apply. Defendant could have made some of the

arguments in his present motion before trial, attrial, immediately after trial or in his

direct appeal, and Rule 61(Ð(3) should bar such claims.

8. A defect under Rule 6l(iX1), (2), or (3), however, will not necessarily

bar a movant's "claimthat the court lacked jurisdiction or . . . a colorable claim that

there was a miscarriage of justice because of a constitutional violation that

undermined the fundamental legality, reliability, integrity, or fairness of the

proceedings leading to the judgment of conviction."e Because an ineffective

assistance of counsel claim alleges a constitutional basis forpostconviction relief, the

procedural bars contained in Rule 61(iX1), (2), or (3) may be overcome if the

case on direct review." Super. Ct. Crim. R. 61(m).

e Super, Ct. Crim, R.61(Ð(5).

4
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defendant assefts a colorable ineffective assistance of counsel claim.l0 As this is

Defendant's first motion and it is timely, the Court will review Defendant's motion

on its merits rather than analyze the applicable procedurai bars.

A, Wether Defendant's Motion should be granted because Counselwas

íneffective at trial and during any time in preparatíonþr trial.

9. To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant

must satisfr the two-part Strìckland test by showing both: (1) that counsel's

representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, and (2) that the

errors by counsel amounted to prejudice.rr Generally, a claim for ineffective

assistance of counsei fails unless both prongs of the Stríckland test have been

established.'2

1 0. The Stricklandtestrequires Defendant to show that counsel's errors were

t0 See State v. MacDonald,2007 WL 1378332, at*4,n.17 (Del. Super. Ct. May 9,2007),
(emphasis added).

tt Alburyv. State,55l A.zd 53,58 (Del. 1988) (citing Stricklqndv, Wrashington,466lJ.S.
668,688, 694 (1984)).

t2 Strícklønd,466 U.S. at 687 (emphasis added).
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so grievous that his performance fell below an objective standard ofreasonableness.13

To delineate his claims that Counsel was ineffective, Defendant argues ten grounds-ta

1 1. Many of Defendant's grounds for relief center around Counsel's use of

or Counsel's failure to use, cell phone records in a manner which Defendant feels

would have best represented his defense. Defendant argues Counsel failed to

"discover, present and cross-examineFreemanwithphone records establishing a drug

meeting when meeting was consistant (sic) with sole defense."rt He further asserts

Counsel failed to counter the State's motive theory with these records, failed to

discover and introduce evidence contradicting Freeman's testimony conceming the

phone records, failed to properly cross-examine Freeman, failed to impeach

Freeman's testimony about a specific call, and faiied to offer evidence consistent with

his own defense theory that Freeman was contacting him regarding a drug deal.t6 The

State opines that Defendant's first eight allegations of ineffective assistance of

counsel are really a single claim that Counsel was ineffective for failing to use the

" Stricklond,466 U.S. at 687-88; see also Dawson v. State,673 A'zd I 186 (Del. 1996).

at 1190.

ra Defendant actual "letters" his grounds from a to k, which would indicate 1l grounds;

holvever, on page 3 of his Supp. Memo., Defendant lists ground (f) and ground (h) consecutively,

thus skippìng a potential ground (g).

15 Def. Supp. Memo.,2.

t6 Id. at2-3.

6
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phone records in a manner Defendant finds effective.rT

12. Defendant argues thatthephone records show f,rve phone calls made to

and from Defendant's aunt's residence and that they were made atthe same tímes the

calls between Defendant and his victim were made, thus establishing Defendant's

defense that his victim was actually setting up a drug deal.r8 Counsel agrees that

Defendant's sole defense included a scenario whereby the victim was engaged in drug

dealing relationship with Defendant and, on the night Defendant took Freeman's car,

it was Defendant who was in fear of a victim who was demanding payment for

drugsre Moreover, Counsel states that Defendant claimed the apartment robbery was

perpetrated in order to obtain PCP to sell and then repay Freeman.20 Counsel states

that he reviewed the relevant telephone records and cross-examined the victim about

those records.2r It is Counsel's contention that Freeman admitted to the calls and that

Defendant took the stand to fully explain this defense to the jury." Defendant argues

that Counsel's answers are deficient and that he failed to use the phone records to

ri St. Resp.,9.

t8 Id. at7.

Ie Counsel affidavit (*Aff."),2

20 Id. at 4.

2t Id. at5.

22 Id.

ç

7



Í!"
tuÍ

show Freeman was "dishonest about the amount of contact" with Defendant or that

Freeman "knew. . . hewas corespondingwith [Defendant] for drug involvement."23

Defendant states that Counsel's arguments were "useless."24

13. Counsel articulates he made a determination that the cell phone records

"could be used to show the robbery was planned" in that Defendant selected his

victims as targets.2s Moreover, Counsel states that the records "reflected a 91 1 call

by Freeman that substantiated the State's claim that [Freeman] was being robbed."26

Defendant, on the other hand, believes Counsel's decision to allow Freeman's

explanation that he was confused without further cross-examination is an indication

that Counsel "did not investigate the phone rscords."27 Corroborating Counsel's

affrdavit, the State indicates that Counsel "astutely recognized" thatthe phone records

would bolster the State's evidence againstDefendant.2s

14. The State contends that Counsel's decision to use the records, but not to

23 Defendant's Reply to Counsel's Aff. ("Def. Reply 2").3 (Again, it should be noted

Defendant's submission is 10 pages 1ong, but he begins numbering on page 3 as "1". The court

has renumbered the submission')

2o Id. at4.

2s Aff.at6.

26 Id.

" Supp.Memo. at 18.

28 St. Resp. at 9.

8
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admit the records as exhibits, was a "strategic decision" which Counsel believed

would benefit Defendant. The State presents a iitany of ways the phone records

would have assisted the State in convicting Defendant.2e

I 5 . The Strickland testrequires Defendant to show that counsel's effors were

so grievous that his performance fell below an objective standard ofreasonableness.30

In order to meet the first prong of the Strickland inquiry, Defendant "must overcome

the presumption that, under the circumstances, the challenged action 'might be

considered sound trial strategy."'3t Even evidence of "[i]solated poor strategy,

inexperience, or bad tactics dofes] not necessarily amount to ineffective assistance of

counsel."32 Despite all of Defendant's protests in his motion and in both replies, he

is unable to show clearly that Counsel's actions were so unreasonable as to amount

2e St. Resp. at Il-14. Specifically, the State claims the records a) bolster Freeman's

asseftions he called 911 after the carjacking; b) bolster Freeman and another witness's testimony

that Freeman frantically called his own mother after being robbed by Defendant; c) corroborates

Freeman's testimony Defendant called his victim after the carjacking to report where the car was;

d) supports Freeman's testimony that he received calls meant for another friend of Defendant; e)

supports Freeman's testimony that Defendant was intending to reach another person and not his

victim's phone; f) corroborates Defendant's initial statement to police that he was desperate; and

g) impeached Defendant's own testimony about the robbery at the apartment a week after the

carjacking.

to Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687-88; see also Dav,son v. State,673 A.zd 1 186 (Del. 1996).

at 1190.

3t Stríckland,466 U.S. at 689 (citations omitted).

32 Bellmorev. State,602N.E. 2d711,123 (Ind. 1992),

9
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to ineffective assistance. Counsel is not required to present the evidence in the

manner Defendant wants him to, nor is Counsel required to present a strategy that

Defendant asserts would have been more valuable to his defense.

16. In Hatìngton v, Richter,33 the Supreme Court established that

representation is constitutionally ineffective only if it so undermined the proper

functioning of the adversarial process that Defendant was denied afair trial.34 It is

not enough to show that Counsel's actions may have had some possible effect on the

outcome ofthe proceeding, butthat Counsel's actions were so serious thatDefendant

was deprived of a fait trial.35 Furthermore, Defendant must rebut a 'strong

presumption' that trial counsel's representation fell within the 'wide range of

reasonable professional assistance, and this Court must eliminate from its

consideration the distorting effects ofhindsight when viewing that representation. "'36

Counsel is not required to provide perfect representation, the high court opines, but

one that is "reasonabiy competent."31 Both Counsel and the State have articulated

sound reasons why Counsel's actions may have been soundjudgment and reasonably

33 Harringtonv. Richter, 131 S.Ct. 770 (2011).

34 Id. at79l.

tt Id.

36 U,S. v. Cronic,466 U.S. 648, 658 (1984), (quoting Strickland,466 U.S. at 689).

37 Id.

10
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competent representation. The fact that Counsel's representation and the tactics he

chose did not result in a jury's acceptance of Defendant's testimony or acquittal for

Defendant does not render that representation "useless," as Defendant has stated.

17. Even if Defendant were able to show Counsel was, indeed, ineffective,

it is still Defendant's burdento fulfill the secondprong of Stríckland,by making and

substantiating concrete allegations of actual prejudice.3s With regard to the required

showing of prejudice, the Strickland Couú requires that Defendant show that there

is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the disposition of this case

would have been different.3e To meet his burden, Defendant must show more than a

theoretical possibility that the outcome was affected.aO Defendant asserts that

Counsel's better use of the phone records would have attacked the credibility of his

witnesses and that the case hinged on credibility.o' But Defendant's assertions are

theoretical, not the necessary concrete proof of prejudice required under the law. As

the State and Counsel have stated, further use of the records may have theoretically

harmed Defendant's case, as well, and may have attacked his own credibility.

38 Outten v. State,720 A.Zd 547,557 (Del. 1998),

3e Stríckland,466 U.S. at 669.

ao Freyv. Fulconzer,974F.2d348,358 (3d Cir. 1992).

4r Def. Reply to State ("Def. Reply 1"), 9.

11
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18. Defendant's assertion that Counsel was ineffective because he failed to

investigate Defendant's evidence, is not supported by the record.a2 Counsel asserts

that he "filed the appropriate pleadings and received discovery" in the case, and

reviewed the discovery with Defendant.a3 A review of the file and trial transcripts

support Counsel's contentions. While Defendant argues thatvarious phone calls on

the phone record couid have been used to contradict some witness testimony,aa the

Court strains to find the prejudice required under Stríckland, as the State shows

Defendant's own admissions to police andattrial showed he carjacked Freeman and

robbed his other victims.a5

ß. Defendant further claims that Counsel was ineffective for allowing

Defendant to testify without properly investigating Defendant's case.46 Counsel

states that the decision to testify or not testify was Defendant's decision alone.al

Counsel advised Defendant on the "advantages and disadvantages of testifuing and

ot Supp.Memo. at 34.

43 Aff at 5.

'o S.rpp.Memo. at36-37

4s St. Resp. at 16.

'u Snpp. Memo. at 48.

47 Aff, at 6.

T2
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discussed how fDefendant] should present himself on the witness stand."48 Counsel

also states he advised Defendant not to proceed to trial and that Defendant should

accept the State's plea offer.ae The State further argues that Defendant should be

precluded from making this assertion because Counsel properly advised Defendant

regarding the decision to testifu and the Court ultimately permitted Defendant to do

so after the required colloquy.5o

20. Based upon the record, it is appears that Defendant's own decision to

present his case and open himself up to credibility attacks and cross-examination was

most problematic for Defendant. However, after reviewing the full record, the Court

is convinced that Counsel provided the requisite advice and the Court followed the

appropriate procedure to ascertain whether Defendant wished to testit/.st

21. Finally, Defendant argues that Counsel was ineffective for, as the State

puts it, "implicitly conceding that [D]efendant committed crimes."s2 Defendant

argues his sole defense was that there was no carjacking or robbery and Counsel's

+8 Id. at7.

4e Id.

50 St. Resp. at 17.

5r Trial Transcript, Oct.28,2009 ("Tr.2"), 181.

s2 Id.

L3
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comments deprived him of a fair tnal.s3 The State, however, considers Defendant's

comments as "mischaracterization" of Counsel's closing arguments.sa According to

the State, Counsel never conceded guilt, but suggested a means to argue that the jury

should have reasonable doubt regarding the State's and the victims' contentions that

Defendanthadagun.55 The State opines that Counsel's arguments were "appropriate

and reasonable."56

22. Most problematic for Defendant, however, is the fact that his own

testimony seems to concede the commission of crimes.57 Defendant stated, "They can

say that I stole the car because I did. I ran around the car, jumped in while the door

was open and pulled off the door."s8 Later, Defendant testifies, ". . . f left with fthe

victim's] stuff and I didn't pay her And, to assist the prosecutors in attacking

his credibility regarding the robbery and his running out of the apartment with his

victim following Defendant, Defendant states, "Oh, no, no, no excuse me. You

t'Supp.Memo. at 51.

s4 St. Resp. at 17.

ss Id.

sG Id.

t' Id.

tt Trial Transcript, Oct, 29, 2009 ("Tr. 3"), 31.

se Id. at69,

r4



{* f=

caught me in a - I didn't see her leave,"60 In applying the Stríckland standard, this

Court cannot see how any actions or words by Counsel could have prejudiced the jury

more so than Defendant's own voluntary testimony.

B. llhether Defendønt's Motion should be grantedfor Prosecutorial Mísconduct.

23. Defendant argues next thatthe prosecutor permitted "false testimony to

go uncoffected" and "elicited false evidence, as well as aided and encouraged

extensive false testimony in which he knew to be false beyond a reasonable doubt."6r

To prove this contention, Defendant asserts that Freeman, his victim, provided

testimony which was inconsistent with Defendant's interpretation of the phone

records.ó2 According to Defendant, his victim's testimony was "inextricable

interwind (sic) with lies, fabrication, and tailured (sic) munipulation (sic). . ."63

24. The State denies any misconduct, stating any inconsistencies within

Freeman's testimony are not "out of the ordinary" when reviewing the testimony of

any witness.6a As the State correctly points out, "it is a rare trial that there are not

60 Id. at67.

u' Supp. Memo. at 53.

62 Id, at s4.

63 Id.

64 St. Resp. at 19.

l5
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some inconsistencies in the testimony of either witnesses or in the testimony of a

single witness.65" Freeman's testimony came nine months after a violent carjacking.

The State opines that "under the pressure of court testimony," it would be difficult for

the victim to remenrber "the exact number of calls he received, as well as the timing

ofthose calls, on a cell phone that did not belong to him."66 Furthermore, Freeman's

responses admit to confusion, thus providing a jury the opportunity to consider

whether Freeman's responses are credible.6T

25. To showprosecutorial misconduct, Defendant mustprove the State knew

the witness testimony was false.68 Defendant has failed to demonstrate much more

thanFreeman's testimonyhad inconsistencies which often existinwitness testimony.

Defendant shows no active or passive deliberate actions by the State to suborn

perjury, nor does Defendant prove any of Freeman's testimony reached the level of

perjury.

6s In re Cousíns,2003 WL22810504, *2 (Del. Super.)

ó6 St. Resp. at 19.

u' Id.

68 conlov' v. state,44l A.zd 638, 640 (Del. 1982).

I6
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C. l[/hether Defendant's Motion should be granted because the Trial Judge

abused his discretíon.

26. Defendant's third ground for relief is a belief that the trial judge used

wording in a supplementary jury charge which was "misleading and adversely

affected fDefendant's] rights to testifu in his own defense as well as implicity (sic)

directed a verdict of first degree carjacking and that Counsel was ineffective for

failing to request a limited curative instruction to clarify" the offending comments.6e

27. Defendant states that when the State objected to Counsel seeking a

"choice of evil s" instructi on, the Court intervened and stated that the j udge woul d not

instruct the jury on this legal defense because it was not availabie to Defendant in this

case.?o The trial judge explained to the jury that they could not "consider that

fDefendant] was in some kind of bind, and just had to do what he did with regard to

taking the car."7 | He further articulated, "That's a conceivable defense if a lot of

technical things are proven, but its not in this case."72 Defendant states that the trial

judge's comments "precluded the jury from considering a critical portion of

on Supp.Memo. at 79.

70 Id.. at77, citing Trial Transcript ("Tr.4"), Oct. 30,2012,74-75.

7t Tr.4 at75.

n Id.

t7
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[Defendant' s] testim ony ."

28. The State argues that the Supreme Court of Delaware has already

adjudicated whether the trial judge erred by intenupting Counsel's closings and

making the statement which Defendant argues was abuse of discretion.T3 Indeed, the

Supreme Court reviewed the fuil text of the judge's comments and printed them

verbatim in its mandate affirming Defendant's convictions.Ta After fully considering

the text ofthejudge's comments and reviewing whether a choice of evils defense was

supported bythe evidence athrial,the Supreme Courtruledthatthe trialjudge did not

err in concludingthatthe choice of evils instruction was unavailable to Defendant.

29. Defendant argues that the Supreme Court ruled only as to the trial

judge's decision to avoid such a jury instruction, but did not comment on the

Ianguage the trial judge used.75 Defendant contends that the Supreme Court never

examined the words used by the trial judge and the ímpact those words had on the

j ury' s cons ideration of Defendant' s testimony.T6

3 0. The Court finds that Defendant's attempt at re-examining the "choice of

73 St. Resp. at 20.

74 2oro wL 5o439to at*4

tt Def. Reply I at 16-17.

'6 Id.

18
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evils" intenuption is merely an attempt to reexamine something which has already

been thoroughiy examined. The Supreme Court of Delaware has demonstrated that

it was fully aware of the comments made by the trial judge and made its ruling

affirming the Defendant's convictions, which includes affirming those comments.

As such, Defendant's assertions should be precluded under Rule 61(iX4). In any

case, Defendant's arguments that these comments confused the jury or affected the

outcome of his case," are not supported by fact, nor do they take into consideration

thatthe judgeprovided adequatejuryinstructions atthe appropriate time. Defendant

complains that this confusion may have caused the jury to be confused or to discount

his testimony, but Defendant ignores the possibility that the jury may have ignored

his testimony because they did not believe his accounts, or because they found his

testimony to be less reliable than the victims' testimony.

D. ll'hether Defendant's Motìon should be granted because Counsel was

ineffective at the guilty plea phase

31. Finally, Defendant contends that Counsel was ineffective because

Counsel advised Defendant that the firearm charges would be "throrvn out" and that,

tt Supp.Memo. at 88-89

I9
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had Defendant known this was not true, he would have accepted the six years of

incarceration offered by the State.?8 Counsel patently denies this allegalion.Te

Counsel asserts that it was Defendant who rnade the assertion that the weapons

charges would be overcome and that Counsel advised him that this was an incorrect

assumption.so

32, Defendant claims support for his assertion in Counsel's motion at the

conclusion of the State's evidence.s' Counsel did indeed attempt to have some

charges dismissed based upon the possibility that the State had not met its burden of

showing an operable firearm as required by the criminal statutes forwhich Defendant

was tried.82 The Court denied Counsel's motion, explaining that sufficient evidence

existed within the facts presented attrial and in testimony to fulfill the requirements

of the statute.s3 Defendant asserts that this exchange between Defendant and the

judge "clearly suggest[s] Counsel held the mistaken belief that the proof of the

firearm was not sufficient" and that this proved Counsel advised Defendant of this

tt Srrpp.Memo. at90-91

7e Aff.at6.

so Id.

t' Supp. Memo. at92.

e2 Tr. z at r79.

83 Id. atrgo.

20
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mistaken belief when Defendant was deciding to take the p1ea.84 Defendant is

mistaken. The words spoken by Counsel merely represent an attempt to establish

whether the evidence was sufficient and nothing can be asserted beyond that. The

motion made by Counsel at the end of the State's evidence was a "standard" motion

"commonly made in cases where no firearm is recovered."8s They do not represent

what Counsel advised Defendant and Counsei has denied Defendant's contentions.

As the State astutely points out, had Counsel been so misinformed of the law, he

would have made this motion long before this stage in the process, most likely before

trial began.86

33. Defendant submits as proof of his alleged bad advice at the time the plea

was offered, a sworn affidavit from LaTonya NewsomesT which states "myself and

my step-father (unnamed) were informed on separate occasions by way oftelephone

(no dates provided) from [Counsel] that they would weapons (sic) charge would be

to Supp, Memo. at 93

85 St, Resp. at 21.

86 ld.

87 Iu Defendant's Supp. Memo at 93, he claims to have plovided affidavits from two other
persons, he in reality only provided two copies of Ms. Newsome's affidavit. The Court reviewed
the extensive submission of Defendant and found no other "proof' as Defendant describes.
However, if those affrdavits are similar to the one provided by Ms. Newsome, they have the same

substantive value in presenting Defendant's claim.

2I
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dismissed due to not have founding a gun by the authorities."ss The affidavit is

submitted by a person, unknown to the Court whose relationship to Defendant is

unciear, who has no absolute knowledge of the information Counsel may have

provided Defendant over the course of representation concerning arLy plea and

provides no specific information regarding when Counsel made such representations

nor what exactly Counsel said. The Court believes the credibility of the affidavit

should be questioned as to its content.

34. The State and Counsel both inform the Court that Defendant's decision

to go to trial was based upon his mistaken belief thatthe victims in the case would not

appear attrialbecause they were drug dealers.se The Court finds this representation

far more credible than the affidavit provided by Newsome or the innuendo Defendant

findsinCounsel'smotionattrial. Defendanthasnotmethisburdenunder,S/ríckland

to show that but for some action by Counsel, he would not have gone to trial.

tt Newsome Aff. Augst 22,2017,

8e Aff. at7 æñ St. Resp. at 22.
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35. Accordingly, for the reasons stated above, Defendant's Motion for

Postconviction Relief is DEMED. Defendant's motion for Appointment of Counsel

is also DENIED. The Court will appoint counsel for an indigent movant only in the

exercise of discretion and for good cause shown.e0 Prisoners have no constitutional

right to counsel beyond their direct appeal, and the appointment of an attomey at

taxpayet expense occurs only in exceptional circumstances.el Defendant has

demonstrated the ability to effectively represent his concerns in his motion; the Court

found his arguments coherent, but not compelling.

IT IS SO ORDERED,

Mark S. Vavala, Superior Court Commissioner

Defense Attorney
State's Attorney
Defendant Pro Se

Angie Hairston, Prothonotary Pending Actions
Investigative Services

'o Super. Ct. Crim. R 6l(e).

nt ,S/. y. Johnson,2004 WL 3029940 (Del. Super .); State v. Andrus,2006 WL 3492293
(Del. Super.).

IJì
"i',t *

4
rtit'. 'd:
t, t- -

1¡ 
" 

ç
J\'" f{
lêrioi.na to Prothonotary

Éqc

23



A¡'FIDAVIT OF }'AILTNG

The undersigned, being a member of the Bar of this Court,

hereby certifies that on September 4, 20L2, she caused two copies

of the wíthin document to be placed in the United States Ma1I,

first cl-ass postage prepaid, addressed to the following:

Cory J. Holmes
No.00399190
James T. Vaughn Correctional Center
1181 Paddock Road
Smyrna, DE 1,9977

/s/ntizabeth R. McFarlan
Deputy Attorney General
rD ß159


